RECEIVED

Feb 17 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA**

Appellate Case No. 2025-000163
Lower Court Case No. 2024-CP-32-01682

Timothy Nunnally and Mark Nunnally,
Appellants,

v.

Tina Guerry, individually and in her official capacity as
Lexington County Register of Deeds,
Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Appeal From Lexington County
The Honorable Debra R. McCaslin

Respectfully submitted,

Mark Anthony Nunnally
Appellant Pro Se
5681 Grande River Road
College Park, GA 30349
Phone: 404-980-4488

Timothy Allen Nunnally
Appellant Pro Se
5681 Grande River Road
College Park, GA 30349
Phone: 404-980-4488

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **Genuine Issues of Material Fact & Statutory Misapplication:**

Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent despite the existence of genuine issues of material fact—including evidence concerning ownership/capacity (trust vs. individuals), acknowledgment and notary defects, legal description, and the purpose of Appellants' filing—and where Respondent's reliance on S.C. Code Ann. § 30-9-30 (B)(1) was based only on a one-paragraph refusal letter and conclusory affidavit that failed to demonstrate a contemporaneous "reasonable belief" of falsity? (R. p. 90–98, 131–150, 166–175, 176–180).

2. **Discovery Not Enforced / Premature Summary Judgment:**

Did the trial court err in refusing to enforce discovery requests and motions to compel—including unanswered Interrogatories demanding "every fact" supporting S.C. Code Ann. § 30-9-30 (B)(1), a Motion to Enforce Discovery, and a Motion to Deem RFAs Admitted—and then entering summary judgment while such discovery disputes remained unresolved, contrary to Rule 33, SCRPC; Rule 37, SCRPC; and Rule 56, SCRPC? (R. p. 76–85, 111–115, 131–150).

3. **Trust Ownership & Ministerial Duty Misconstrued:**

Did the trial court err in disregarding evidence of the CAN Irrevocable Trust's ownership interest and treating the lien as if it were imposed on Appellants personally, while also reframing what was properly a mandamus action under S.C. Code Ann. § 30-5-90 (to enforce the ministerial duty to record instruments "in the order received") into a merits adjudication about the lien's validity? (R. p. 90–98, 131–150).

4. Motion to Reconsider & Unruled Judicial Notice:

Did the trial court err in denying Appellants' Motion to Reconsider without properly addressing the legal arguments and affidavits presented, and by failing to rule on Appellants' pending Judicial-Notice motion with acknowledged/notarized exhibits and proof of notary commission before granting summary judgment? (R. p. 181-195, 206-210).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the Lexington County Court of Common Pleas, Eleventh Judicial Circuit, Honorable Debra R. McCaslin presiding. Appellants sought relief after Respondent, Tina Guerry, acting in her capacity as Register of Deeds, refused to record a common law lien presented by Appellants. Appellants filed their Summons and Complaint on May 8, 2024 (R. p. 1-5). Respondent answered on May 30, 2024 (R. p. 16-20). Following extensive discovery disputes and motions (R. p. 76-85, 111-115), Respondent moved for Summary Judgment (R. p. 61-65, 126-130). On January 7, 2025, a hearing was held on Appellants' motions and Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. p. 131-150). On January 23, 2025, the trial court entered an Order granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. p. 166-175, 176-180). Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider (R. p. 181-195), which was denied on January 24, 2025 (R. p. 206-210). This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellants, acting *pro se*, attempted to record a Federal Common Law Lien and Writ of Attachment to protect trust property held by the CAN Irrevocable Trust. Respondent refused to record the lien, citing S.C. Code Ann. § 30-9-30 (B)(1). Appellants consistently sought discovery to ascertain the alleged basis for Respondent's refusal (R. p. 76–85, 111–115). The trial court did not compel full responses and instead granted summary judgment to Respondent. The January 7, 2025 transcript (R. p. 131–150) reflects the court's decision to proceed to summary judgment despite pending discovery disputes.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court reviews a grant of summary judgment *de novo*, applying the same standard as the trial court under Rule 56, SCRPC. Summary judgment is proper only when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. See *Baughman v. AT&T*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court committed multiple reversible errors that require this Court's intervention.

First, the grant of summary judgment was improper. Appellants raised genuine issues of material fact concerning the validity and purpose of the lien, the ownership of the subject property through the CAN Irrevocable Trust, and the incomplete state of discovery. Rule 56, SCRPC, forbids entry of summary judgment when factual disputes remain.

Second, the trial court refused to enforce discovery despite multiple pending motions to compel. Appellants repeatedly sought interrogatory responses and admissions to establish the basis of

Respondent's claimed "reasonable belief" under S.C. Code Ann. § 30-9-30. The denial of discovery before ruling on summary judgment constitutes an abuse of discretion and prejudiced Appellants' ability to present their case.

Third, the trial court misapprehended the ownership structure of the subject property. By treating the lien as if it were imposed on Appellants' personal property, rather than recognizing the Trust's separate legal interest, the court disregarded material evidence and misconstrued the nature of the transaction.

Finally, the court erred in denying Appellants' Motion to Reconsider without addressing the arguments and affidavit evidence presented. This summary denial deprived Appellants of meaningful review of substantive claims and violated principles of due process.

For these reasons, the Order granting summary judgment and the denial of reconsideration must be reversed, and the matter remanded for further proceedings.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment Despite Genuine Issues of Material Fact and Misapplied § 30-9-30(B)(1).

Summary judgment was improper where Appellants raised genuine disputes concerning the validity and purpose of the lien, the CAN Irrevocable Trust's ownership and capacity, acknowledgment and notary defects, and the adequacy of the legal description. The record contains unresolved questions of both law and fact (R. p. 131–150, 166–175).

Moreover, Respondent's reliance on S.C. Code Ann. § 30-9-30 (B)(1) was insufficient. The Register's one-paragraph refusal letter and later conclusory affidavit did not establish the statute's requirement of a contemporaneous "reasonable belief" that the instrument was materially false or a sham. Without such a showing, summary judgment was improper (R. p. 90–98, 131–150, 176–180).

II. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion by Refusing to Enforce Discovery and Entering Premature Summary Judgment.

Appellants filed multiple motions to compel discovery, including a Motion to Enforce Interrogatories demanding "every fact" supporting Respondent's S.C. Code Ann. § 30-9-30 (B)(1) position, and a Motion to Decree Requests for Admission Admitted (R. p. 76–85, 111–115). The transcript (R. p. 131–150) confirms discovery responses remained incomplete and evasive.

Granting summary judgment while these discovery disputes were pending constitutes reversible error under Rule 33, SCRPC ; Rule 37, SCRPC; and Rule 56, SCRPC. See *Doe v. Roe*, 370 S.C. 208, 634 S.E.2d 573 (2006) (holding that it is improper to grant summary judgment where discovery issues remain unresolved).

III. The Court Misapprehended the CAN Irrevocable Trust's Ownership Interest and Ignored the Ministerial Nature of the Register's Duty.

The lien was filed by the Trustee to secure fiduciary duties relating to trust property. By treating the lien as though Appellants were attempting to encumber their own property, the court misstated the facts and disregarded the Trust's independent legal rights (R. p. 90–98, 131–150).

Further, this proceeding arose in mandamus to enforce the ministerial duty under S.C. Code Ann. § 30-5-90, which requires the Register of Deeds to record instruments “in the order received.” The trial court erred by converting this ministerial-duty action into a merits adjudication of the lien's substantive validity, exceeding its proper scope.

IV. The Denial of the Motion to Reconsider Without Ruling on Judicial Notice Was Erroneous.

Appellants presented a Memorandum of Law with supporting affidavits (R. p. 181–195), and their pending Motion for Judicial Notice asked the court to recognize notarized instruments, acknowledgments, and proof of notary commission already in the record. The trial court denied reconsideration summarily, without addressing either the arguments or the Judicial-Notice motion.