IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Dec 19 2025

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CIRCUIT COURT

Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellant Case No.: 2025-000163

Timothy Nunally and Mark Nunnally

Appellants,

v.

Tina Guerry, individually and in her official capacity
as Lexington County Register of Deeds

Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Jeff M. Anderson S.C, Bar No.:380)
DAVIS FRAWLEY, LLC
140 East Main Street
PO Box 489
Lexington, SC 29072
Phone No.: (803) 359-2512
Fax No.: (803) 359-7478
Jeff@oldcourthouse.com
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Whether the Circuit Judge erred in determining that there was no genuine issue of material fact that the document in question met the requirements of S.C Code Section 30-9-30 (B)(1) and should not be recorded in the Register of Deeds office for Lexington County

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants attempted to record a document entitled "Lien Common Law and Notice of Writ of Attachment on private and / or Real, Personal Property. The Lexington County Register of Deeds (ROD) office reviewed the document and declined to record the document pursuant to S.C Code section 30-9-30 (B) (1) and a written notice was provided by the ROD informing them. The Appellants then filed a lawsuit pursuant to SC Code section 30-9-30 (B) (1) and asked the Court to require the Lexington County ROD to accept the document for filing and asked for the court to award them attorney fees. The Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment which was heard by the Circuit Court. The Circuit Court granted Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellants attempted to record a document that put a \$100 million lien by them on property which they were conveyed from the estate of Carl Alvin Nunally, Sr., by a deed of distribution from the estate. The subject property already had a mortgage on it before the conveyance to the Appellants. The mortgage is currently in the process of being foreclosed upon by the mortgagee. The Appellants' lien stated that it superseded mortgages and equity liens and it gave warnings to anyone who might not honor the lien. Pursuant to SC Code section 30-9-30 (B) (1). The Lexington County register of deeds office decline to record the purported lien and sent the appellants written notice by letter dated April 8, 2024.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Pursuant to S.C. Rule of Civil Procedure 56, Summary Judgment should be granted if there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to Judgment as a matter of law.

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court properly determined that there were no genuine issues of material fact that lien document in question meets the requirement of S.C Code section 30-9-30 (B) (1) so that the Respondent was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

The facts as shown by the affidavit of the Register of Deeds (Supp Record, p S1 - S3)

were as follows:

1. The Plaintiffs attempted to record the document that was attached to their Complaint, which is alleged to be a \$100 million lien on property at least partially owned by the Plaintiffs. The lien is captioned as a lien common law and a writ of attachment (Record, p 28 - 33).
2. The lien was signed by Plaintiff, Timothy Nunally.
3. The alleged lien states that the lien supersedes mortgages and equity liens.
4. The alleged lien states that anyone who modifies or removes the lien is fully liable for damages.
5. The alleged lien further warns that anyone who attempts to modify, circumvent, and/or negate the lien shall be deemed outlaws and/or felons and shall be prosecuted pursuant to federal statutes.
6. The alleged lien further warns that any judicial action which violates the constitutional rights of the individuals may be sued as a cause of action in civil litigation against those performing those acts without any form of immunity.
7. S.C. Code section 30-9-30 states as follows:

SECTION 30-9-30. Filing of written instruments concerning real or personal property; false or fraud documents.

(B)(1) If a person presents a conveyance, mortgage, judgment, lien, contract, or other document to the clerk of court or the register of deeds for filing or recording, the clerk of court or the register of deeds may refuse to accept the document for filing if he reasonably believes that the document is materially false or fraudulent or is a sham legal process. Within thirty days of a written notice of such refusal, the person presenting the document may commence a suit in a state court of competent jurisdiction requiring the clerk of court or the register of deeds to accept the document for filing.

(2) If the clerk of court or the register of deeds reasonably believes that a conveyance, mortgage, judgment, lien, contract, or other document is materially false or fraudulent, or is a sham legal process, the clerk of court or the register of deeds may remove the document from the public records after giving thirty days' written notice to the person on whose behalf

the document was filed at the return address provided in the document. Within thirty days written notice of the proposed removal, the person providing the notice may commence a suit in a state court of competent jurisdiction preventing the clerk of court or the register of deeds from removing the document.

(3) If a clerk of court or a register of deeds improperly refuses to accept for filing or recording or improperly removes from the public records a conveyance, mortgage, judgment, lien, contract, or other document pursuant to this section, the clerk of court or register of deeds is not liable for damages, personally or in his official capacity, for the improper refusal or removal.

(4) For purposes of this subsection:

(a) "Sham legal process" means a document that is not issued lawfully and that purports to be a judgment, lien, or order of a court or appropriate government entity, or otherwise purports to assert jurisdiction over or determine the legal or equitable status, rights, duties, powers, or privileges of a person or property.

(b) "Lawfully issued" means adopted, issued, or rendered in accordance with applicable statutes, rules, regulations, and ordinances of the United States, a state, or an agency or a political subdivision of a state.

8. The Lexington County ROD reviewed the document and determined that it had reasonable belief that the document should not be recorded pursuant to SC Code section 30-9-30 (B) (1) and sent the plaintiffs the letter attached to the affidavit of the ROD, Tina Guerry.
9. The property on which the lien was alleged to be attached is the subject of the current foreclosure lawsuit in civil action number 2024-CP-32-01094.
10. S.C. Code section 30-9-30 was enacted to give the Clerk of Courts and ROD offices the authority to refuse to record documents when they reasonably believe that the document is materially false fraudulent or is a sham legal process.
11. The Plaintiffs have not given any response to a discovery question as to what underlying lien did the Plaintiffs have on their own property.

Argument

The Plaintiffs attempted to put a \$100 million lien on their own property. The above referenced warnings by the Plaintiffs in the document were a red flag to the ROD that the document met the definition of S.C. Code section 30-9-30 (B)(1). The additional public record information that the Plaintiffs were being foreclosed on a mortgage that they inherited gave further evidence that the document should not be recorded. It would have been easy for the

ROD to simply record the document and let someone else worry about its validity but the ROD was trying to follow the law set forth in 30-9-30 (B)(1) and not record documents that should not be recorded. It should be noted that the 30-9-30 (B)(2) allows the ROD to remove any document that has been recorded that is reasonably believed to violate the statute.

The alleged common law lien is not a mortgage, not a mechanics lien, not a HOA lien created by covenants and not a State or Federal tax lien. The Plaintiffs have failed to identify what is the underlying basis for their alleged common law lien. Further, the Plaintiffs are attempting to put a lien on property that they at least partially own. There is no basis in law for a property owner to put a lien on his own property as this creates a form of merger of title in that the Plaintiffs already own the property on which they are attempting to record a lien. A lien cannot serve any purpose on property already owned by Plaintiffs. Liens give possible rights to property but no further rights can be obtained more than ownership. If a property owner could put a lien on his own property, then a property owner could immediately upon obtaining title to property, put a lien on the property to put their lien ahead in priority from any other potential liens being recorded thereafter against the property. This simply cannot be done.

Discovery

Appellants attempted extended discovery in this case when none was needed. There was discovery done, but the Appellants' discovery was greatly excessive, when the only issue in this case is the non-recording of one document.

Conclusion

The general assembly has provided a mechanism to stop false or fraudulent documents or a sham legal process from being recorded in the ROD or filed in the Clerk of the Court's office. The Lexington County ROD was doing her job in reviewing the document and deciding that it should not be recorded pursuant to 30-9-30 (B) (). The Circuit Court reviewed the document in question and agreed with the Lexington County ROD that the document should not be recorded pursuant to SC Code section 30-9-30 (B) (1). It is submitted that this Court should review the document and come to the same conclusion.

Jeff M. Anderson S.C. Bar No.:380)
DAVIS FRAWLEY, LLC
140 East Main Street
Lexington, SC 29072
Phone No.: (803) 359-2512
Fax No.: (803) 359-7478
Jeff@oldcourthouse.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

Lexington, South Carolina